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1.0  Executive Summary

This report presents the aims and results of an archaeological assessment commissioned by the North of Scotland Water Authority (NoSWA) and undertaken in advance of the proposed expansion of the wastewater treatment plant at North Head, Wick, Caithness. 

The archaeological assessment comprised a desk-top study and a walkover survey. Although an early medieval chapel dedicated to St. Ninian was meant to be situated on the headland, no trace of this was identified during the field inspection, while the documentary record provides little supporting evidence for its location. No other features which appeared to possess significant archaeological potential lay within the proposal area, although two low mounds which may represent a ruined crofthouse have been noted in the north-east part of the area, while the remains of a coastal battery and the site of another crofthouse lay immediately outside it. 

2.0  Introduction

The archaeological assessment was commissioned by the North of Scotland Water Authority (NoSWA) in advance of the proposed expansion of the wastewater treatment plant at North Head, Wick, Caithness. Its aim was to establish the presence or absence of already recorded archaeological sites in the area, to prospect for further undiscovered archaeological remains and to propose appropriate mitigation measures if archaeological remains were identified within the proposal area.

The site of the existing works is situated right on the end of the North Head of Wick, in an area known as Proudfoot. It lies about 2km east of the centre of Wick. Access is provided along either the south or the north side of the headland. The single-track road on the north side gives access to the existing plant, as well as to the occupied houses along the south side of Broad Haven, a former fishing station; that along the south side of the headland is an unmade track, linking the headland with settlement along the north side of Wick Bay. The field within which the extension is to be located lies to the west of the present works and is centred on NGR ND 3815 5100 (fig. 1). 

The proposal area is of irregular shape, covering an area roughly 110m by 90m. At the time of the visit, the majority of the field lay under stubble, although the 20m strip on the east side was under long grass. The proposal area is bounded by the road/track on all but the west side, where an earlier field boundary appears to have been removed. The field slopes very gently from north to south and lies at around 10m OD.

3.0  Aims and Objectives

This survey was intended to identify the presence or absence of archaeological features in the proposal area and assess the likely impact of the development upon them.

The objectives of this study were as follows:


to collate any known archaeological information on the proposal area

to identify any previously unknown archaeological sites through inspection of the aerial photographic record and the available cartographic evidence 


to evaluate the archaeological significance of the area through field inspection


to assess the potential impact of development in this area and to suggest appropriate 
mitigation measures where these might be necessary
4.0  Methodology

An initial desk-top study involved consultation of the National Monument Record for Scotland (NMRS), held by The Royal Commission on Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland in Edinburgh, and the local Sites and Monument Record (SMR) for Highland, held by the Highland Council Archaeology Unit in Inverness. All the cartographic sources held by the National Map Library in Edinburgh were inspected. Particular emphasis was placed on the First and Second Edition Ordnance Survey maps (Appendix 8.1.2). The vertical stereo aerial photographic record, also held by the NMRS, was examined for any sites of potential archaeological interest which might be visible as soil or vegetation marks (Appendix 8.1.3). Within the remit of the brief, a rapid survey was conducted of the readily available documentary and printed sources. Finally, Iain Sutherland and Robert Gunn of the Wick Heritage Society, who believed that they had located the site of St. Ninian's Chapel, provided freely of their detailed local knowledge of the area.

A rapid walkover survey was conducted of the area selected for development. The field was walked in four sweeps, each 20m apart. 

5.0  Results

5.1  Desk Assessment 

Consultation of the both the SMR and NMRS suggested that there were numerous archaeological sites, of varying types and dates, within the immediate vicinity of the proposal area. Potentially the most significant of these is the site of a pre-Reformation chapel dedicated to St Ninian, meant to have been located on the North Head of Wick. The six-figure grid reference given for the chapel in the NMRS/Highland SMR places it on the rocks of the foreshore, just to the east of the present treatment plant (NMRS no.: ND35SE8; SMR no.: ND35SE0008; NGR ND 383 508), although (if present at all) it clearly must have lain somewhere on the headland itself. Locating the chapel is complicated by the fact that there are no known upstanding remains, while very little information concerning it is apparent in the documentary record; however, in the context of this proposed development on the North Head, all the available evidence for the chapel and its location should be examined in detail. 

The earliest documentary reference to the chapel is in 1726, when it is mentioned in a ‘Geographical Description of the Parish of Week’, compiled by Mr. Oliphant, then minister (Macfarlane 1726, 160). This mentions that ‘At the head of Wick is the Chappel of St. Ninian’. Succeeding references are few and as uninformative, seeming merely to repeat this information (e.g. Thomson 1841, 160; OPS, Vol. II.2, 772). Although the North Head of Wick is referred to more frequently in the sources, it appears merely as a topographical feature, a ‘dangerous promontory’, on the north side of Wick Bay (Thomson 1841, 160). The origin of the name Proudfoot, which is also applied to this area and, on the OS 1st Edition map (1872), refers specifically to the rocks of the foreshore, was not discovered in the sources consulted in this study. On the earliest map of a scale to reveal any detail of the area, Blaeu’s map published in 1654, nothing is shown at the North Head. It is only Beaton, in his study of the parishes of Caithness at the end of the nineteenth century, who discusses St. Ninian’s chapel at any length. Although he does not cite his sources, Beaton equates the fact that the dedication of the chapel at the North Head is to St. Ninian as confirmation of the importance and early date of the site (1909, 52-3). Ninian dedications are few in the Highlands (Navidale, near Helmsdale, in Sutherland is the nearest, geographically, to Wick); all are historically obscure and suggest no context for the possible association of Ninian with Wick and certainly no hint of such significance. There is little, in archaeological terms, to corroborate the presence of Christianity in Caithness prior to the eighth century and, certainly none linked to a conversion of the far north by Ninian, who would have been active in the fifth century. In light of the numerous Early Medieval chapels which dot the Caithness landscape, it is likely that St. Ninian’s was nothing more than a small local chapel of pre-Reformation date. It is even possible that when the more formalised parish structure of the late twelfth century came into being, St Ninian’s lost out to its more favoured neighbour, St. Fergus, disappearing just as the historical record becomes more full. 

This still leaves unanswered the question with which Beaton was more concerned; resolving the ‘diversity of opinion as to the exact location of this Chapel’ (1909, 53). He states that the ‘general interpretation’ is that a chapel at the head of Wick [Bay] refers to one on the North Head. However, if Wick bay is viewed in a more restrictive sense, then the chapel could have been situated at a point close to where the Wick river opens out into the bay, on the east side of the present town centre and near to the present service bridge (ibid.). This area of Wick is still known as Mounthoolie (ND 3654 5106), a name which appears to derive from ‘holy hill’. The only indications that this name might preserve the location of St. Ninian’s chapel are contained in two seventeenth century references in the Wick Burgh records, although in both cases it is a ‘St. Ninians Head’, rather than a ‘St. Ninians Chapel’, which is mentioned. In 1663, a fight took place between a merchant and a tailor ‘at St. Ninian’s Head, below the said burgh’ (Beaton 1909, 53). This would seem to support the suggestion of the Mounthoolie area, since the North Head could not be described as lying below the town. The only other reference to St. Ninian’s Head is less easy to locate precisely, since in 1665, the Earl of Caithness ordered a watch for Dutch shipping ‘within the town’, at St. Ninian’s Head. This could just as easily refer to a watch placed close to the Old Ship Pool, near the Service Bridge, as to one kept on the much more prominent, but more distant, North Head (ibid.). Beaton also suggested that the pre-Reformation parish church of St. Fergus was situated in this area, only shifting to its present site following the Reformation (Beaton 1909, 54; Batey 1984, 77, WIC 169; NMRS/SMR no. ND35SE10, ND 365 510). His evidence for this consists of the remains of a building, a possible font and a hoard of fifteenth century gold coins found opposite Mounthooley House in 1881 (Beaton 1909, 54; Batey 1984, 77, WIC 170; NMRS/SMR no. ND35SE9, ND 3645 5108); however, a font found in the farmyard of the UP manse in 1840 was also meant to have come from ‘the old chapel of St. Fergus’ (Beaton 1909, 54-5; RCAHMS 1911, 189-90, no. 582; Batey 1984, 78, WIC 175; NMRS no. ND35SE21, SMR no. ND35SE0257, ND 365 510). The present site of St. Fergus’s church, which contains a medieval effigy of a knight, traditionally believed to be St. Fergus himself, lies further to the east (RCAHMS 1911, 135-6, no. 493; Batey 1984, 78, WIC 172; NMRS/SMR no. ND35SE1, ND 3619 5113). That there was early medieval religious activity in and around Wick is confirmed by a portable altar - a small, square slab, incised with a central cross and with four crosslets in each of the corners - which was dredged out of Wick Bay (Batey 1984, 78, WIC 174; Blackie and Macaulay 1998, 20). 

Much of the evidence for a chapel on the North Head is circumstantial. The proximity of the suggested location of the chapel to the place-name Papigoe, which could incorporate the element ‘papar’ or priests, may be significant. If Papigoe does mean the ‘geo of the priests’, it is likely to have originated in the late first millennium A.D. as a name given by the Vikings to places where they encountered pre-existing Christian settlements. Papigoe is a narrow rocky inlet on the north side of Broad Haven, on the opposite side of the bay to the North Head and therefore some distance from the assumed location of St Ninian’s Chapel. Although the Norse derivation of its name appears to be an attractive one, it would seem that its name can be more accurately accounted for by the presence of the possible broch mound (NMRS no.: ND35SE7; SMR no.: ND35SE0007; NGR ND 3828 5176) lying at the north end of the village. Even though ploughing suggests that it is nothing more than a natural mound, its position at the end of Papigoe ensures that it would be visible as a ‘pap’ to any fishermen navigating in and around Broad Haven. Although Early Christian ecclesiastical sites do tend to be found in close proximity to sites of earlier secular significance such as brochs, particularly in Caithness (e.g. Chapel Hill and Dunbeath broch at Ballachly in the Dunbeath strath), in this case it seems more acceptable to assume that the name originated from the prominence on the skyline of this particular feature (whether natural or not). 

Turning away from the chapel itself, there is plenty of evidence for the more recent use to which the North Head was put. On the OS 1st edition map (1872), a small roofed building lies to the north of the proposal area, immediately to the east of the fence line forming the site boundary, itself shown as a track, at its junction with the track running along the north side of the headland. This building and another one, shown at the end of the track leading from Broadhaven, are undoubtedly crofts associated with that settlement. Neither are present on the OS 2nd edition map (1905); however, the one to the east of the site boundary is visible as a very disturbed single-roomed building on vertical aerial photographs taken in 1958. On this same set of photographs, a more definite ruined longhouse is visible to the west of this boundary. This is almost certainly the site identified by Batey in her survey of the Caithness coast (NMRS no.: ND35SE77; SMR no.: ND35SE0077; NGR ND 3805 5114). However, there is no trace of the two grass-covered amorphous mounds, 10.4m by 6.5m and 6.1m by 4.4m respectively and lying 3.55m apart, which she identified at NGR ND 3822 5102 as the probable remains of a modern croft (NMRS no.: ND35SE76; SMR no.: ND35SE0076). They must be located on the rough ground between the north side of the present treatment plant and the track. If this is so, they must equate with the building shown at the end of the same track on the OS 1st Edition map (1872). The mounds may not have been visible in the long vegetation at the end of summer; equally it is possible that ploughing in this area has removed them since they were last visited in 1981. 

The most obvious feature of archaeological significance on the promontory is a small flagstone building, which has served as a gun emplacement, to the south of the existing treatment plant (and therefore just outside the boundary of the proposal area). This must be the last remaining part of a four-gun battery for drilling the 1st Caithness Artillery volunteers in the use of large guns which is mentioned in the OS Name Book of 1872 (NMRS no.: ND35SE78; SMR no.: ND35SE0078; NGR ND 3818 5090). In the Name Book, the battery is described as being enclosed within a parapet wall of stone, with an embankment sloping outwards and this is clearly visible on both the OS 1st and 2nd edition maps (1872, 1905), although the arrangement of the three buildings inside it is different on the later map. A benchmark is depicted on the most easterly of these buildings; this must be the still extant structure, although the benchmark was not noticed during the field inspection. On aerial photographs taken soon after the Second World War, the three building are still visible, but the small scale of the photographs means that few details are recognisable; however, the surrounding embankment does appear to have gone. Today there are no standing remains around the extant building, although the latest set (1975) of aerial photographs which include this area and which are on a large enough scale, suggest that all three were still extant at this date. 

The earlier OS maps and the five sets of vertical air photographs which cover the headland reveal little additional detail to that already discussed. On the OS 1st Edition map, chalybeate springs and extensive quarries are shown along the southern cliffs of the North Head. The quarries may well have caused disturbance to the gun battery and necessitated the levelling of the adjacent area between the cliff edge and the field boundary to the north of the track. It is likely that the quarries remained in use, if only on a small scale, until quite recently, because of their accessibility both to Broadhaven and the adjacent settlements and to Wick, itself. On the 1st Edition, a triangulation point is visible towards the east side of the field, probably just to the north of the existing treatment plant. This had been removed by the time the revisions for the OS 2nd Edition map were undertaken. The series of aerial photographs taken in 1975 suggest that the field boundary, which forms the western edge of the development area, had gone out of use by this date; it is present merely as a disturbed area of ground today. 

Neither Iain Sutherland or Robert Gunn of the Wick Heritage Society, both of whom have detailed local knowledge of the area, could add anything to the picture presented by the early maps and by the aerial photographs. Their attention had been directed - by the place-name - to the area around the geo at Papigoe, where Robert Gunn believed he had identified (by dowsing) a possible site for St. Ninian’s chapel on a narrow headland between Papigoe, itself, and Otter Geo. This is now the subject of an application for further exploratory investigation. Iain Sutherland was of the opinion that the exposed nature of the North Head precluded the likelihood of early settlement being found there; certainly all the present domestic buildings on the north side of the headland are clustered towards the western end of the track, closer to the head of Broad Haven.    

5.2  Field Inspection
The proposal area was examined on the 21st November, 2000, on a dull, very windy, day with frequent heavy showers. At the time the majority of the field was under stubble and was wet and muddy. This meant the visibility of any archaeological features, if present, was likely to be good. Only the eastern part of the field, around the present treatment plant, had not been ploughed and planted. It was, therefore, obscured by long grass and it is possible that low features such as the mounds noted by Batey in 1982 could have been missed (see above). The rest of the field was walked in sweeps 20m apart, ensuring that a fairly accurate picture of the topography and any potential surface remains was obtained.

The field boundaries appear exactly as they do on the recent editions of the OS maps, although the one forming the western boundary of the proposal area, is now no more than disturbed ground, with some stone clearance towards its southern end. The five series of vertical aerial photographs taken of the North Head since 1945 suggest that the agricultural use of the area has been fairly intense throughout the twentieth century, with the majority of the fields on the headland being under cultivation during that time. It is unlikely, therefore, that any upstanding archaeological remains will have survived; unfortunately all the aerial photographs have been taken either in winter or in May, meaning that cropmarks, unless very strong, are equally unlikely to be visible.    

Fieldwalking the field, albeit roughly and not under ideal conditions, produced a large amount of nineteenth century pottery and china, pieces of slag and probable roofing stone, plus other items of more recent domestic refuse. All the material recovered would be in keeping with the presence of the crofting remains within the northern boundary of the field. Nothing of earlier date was recovered. 

6.0  Mitigation and Recommendations 

All the evidence linking the chapel of St. Ninian with the North Head of Wick is tantalisingly imprecise. The history of the chapel, itself, is even more elusive. It is probable that if it was a local chapel, comparable to the one just to the west of Noss Head at St. Tears, Shorelands, which - unlike that at St. Tears - went out of use prior to the Reformation, little trace of the chapel would remain in the documentary or oral history record. The rapid expansion of Wick as the result of the growth of the herring fishing in the late eighteenth century is likely to have added a further layer of obscurity to the history of St. Ninian’s, particularly in regard to establishing its actual location.

As this whole area has been intensively ploughed, it is probable that any archaeological remains will have been heavily disturbed. Since evidence for an Early Medieval chapel is likely to consist only of a small building, with possibly adjacent graves, it seems unlikely that much upstanding evidence would survive. However, since the possibility that the chapel was located on the North Head cannot be entirely discounted, further exploratory archaeological work is advisable to establish whether sub-surface remains can be identified, before the proposal to extend the wastewater treatment plant can go ahead. Equally, the presence of the crofting remains in the northern part of the proposal area, although of much more recent date, cannot be ignored if this area is to be subject to substantial groundworks.   

It must be stressed that the recommendations noted here are intended for guidance only and attention is drawn to the fact that all decisions regarding appropriate mitigation strategies rest ultimately and entirely with the local planning authority. 
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